City of Seattle Request for Proposal #CTY- 3214

Coordinated Street Furniture Program

Addendum 

Dated 03/09/15

The following is additional information regarding Request for Proposal #CTY-3214, titled “Coordinated Street Furniture Program” released on 2/06/15.  The due date and time for responses will remain as 3/20/15 @4:00PM (Pacific).  This addendum includes both questions from prospective proposers and the City’s answers, and revisions to the RFP.  This addendum is hereby made part of the RFP and therefore, the information contained herein shall be taken into consideration when preparing and submitting a proposal.
	Item #
	Date Received
	Date Answered
	Vendor’s Question
	City’s Answer
	RFP Revisions

	1
	2/11/2015
	3/4/2015
	If a concrete pad is required to install a piece of street furniture, who will be responsible for the cost associated with that?  Is the City or the Vendor?
	The vendor is responsible for all costs.


	

	2
	2/11/2015
	3/4/2015
	Who will be responsible for the collection of litter/recycling from the units?  Is the City going to collect the litter/recycling or is the City expecting the Vendor to do and pay for the collection?


	The vendor is responsible for all maintenance, including collection of litter/recycling, related to the street furniture.


	

	3
	2/11/2015
	3/4/2015
	What is the phone number to call for the Teleconference dated on February 25th?


	Join by Phone 

206-386-1200     

Conference ID: 7330150 


	

	4
	2/11/2015
	3/4/2015
	In several paragraphs in the document it states that the municipal code maybe changed to allow off-premise advertising on selected street furniture.  Is it guaranteed that the code will be changed or is there a chance it won’t be?


	There is no guarantee that code changes will pass.


	

	5
	2/11/2015
	3/4/2015
	We understand that the City is looking to have one Vendor take care of everything, however history has shown, not one company is an expert in all types of street furniture and selling advertising to the different types of clients.  Is the City open to having multiple vendors, one for each type of furniture?


	No, we are seeking a single vendor.
	

	6
	2/20/2015
	3/4/2015
	The RFP includes a form of contract for this program that seems fundamentally inapplicable for the relationship envisioned under the RFP.  For instance, we believe that neither the City nor prospective respondents anticipate that the City will pay for the products and services to be provided under its program.  The City’s form assumes otherwise.  This type of conflict arises in many provisions in the City’s form.  Discussion of other principal elements including term differs substantially between the RFP and the contract form although the RFP states the form controls.  Furthermore, as the RFP noted, the entire Program is subject to subsequent legislative action, a principal factor that is not reflected in the City’s form.  The legislation will materially affect literally every aspect of the prospective relationship and ultimately form the basis for the contractual relationship between the parties.

QUESTION: Would the City consider amending its RFP to:  (i) remove the form included within the RFP; (ii) identify its public policy expectations for the eventual contract (for instance, prevailing wages, nondiscrimination, women and minority subcontracting and employment); and (iii) provide that the City and the Successful Vendor will negotiate a mutually acceptable contract based on reasonable assumptions with respect to legislative process outcomes and subject to modification based on the legislation eventually adopted?


	The City does not intend to subject the entire contract into mutual negotiations. However, the question is correct in that the contract form is not customized uniquely to this type of project.  The City may take this into account and offered a more customized version that the respondents can then identify exceptions for our consideration during negotiations.


	

	7
	N/A
	N/A
	N/A
	The City is requiring the submittal of a Dunn & Bradstreet report for analysis of Financial Statements.
	Change to 8. Offer Sheet and Mandatory Submittals, item 7 (Proposal Response) Financial Statements:
 Provide a copy of the audited financial statements for the three previous fiscal years and the last quarterly report. Statements must include auditor’s letter of opinion, auditor’s notes, balance sheet, and statement of income/loss. Each prime or joint venture partner and sub-consultant must submit this information. The City reserves the right to accept alternative information and/or documentation submitted by the Vendor. Additionally, the City is requiring the submittal of a Dunn & Bradstreet report for your firm.


	8
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Is the advertising element approved for the defined area?
	There is no guarantee that off-premises advertising will be approved by City Council. There could be a notice to proceed and contract phase prior to passage of legislation.


	

	9
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	The current shelters have advertising spaces, does this reflect on what can be expected?
	These are not advertising spaces. King County Metro provides public service and transit service announcements on shelters, but these are not ads. Street Car has shelter sponsors for businesses proximate to street car stops with minimal name recognition.


	

	10
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Are you seeking a minimum percentage of ad revenue?
	No, there is not a minimum threshold. All proposals will be evaluated based on the content. Proposers determine the content.


	

	11
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What is envisioned for the multi-functional info kiosks? Could they be digital and interactive?
	These information kiosks are envisioned as flexible, and could provide wayfinding, real-time transit information, or engage the public via questions or additional public information.
	

	12
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Can Columnar Kiosks combine multifunctional elements?
	Columnar Kiosks can be traditional static posting areas, but may also include multifunctional elements, or other features proposed by a vendor.
	

	13
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	For ad spaces described, can digital options be used?
	This may be an option pending sign code changes.
	

	14
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Advances in technology allow different types of units embedded for data collection of different types, Wi-Fi, counting, surveying, etc. Will these types of technologies be allowed?


	Proposals may suggest different technologies. All elements of the program must adhere to the Seattle sign code at the time of installation. 
	

	15
	2/25/2015
	3/4//2015
	Did City Council provide input on this RFP? What was their opinion about the program?


	City Council was briefed on this RFP, but the City will not comment on Councilmember positions or opinions.
	

	16
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Are quantities in the inventory exhibit (Appendix E) existing or future planned street furniture?


	Appendix E is existing street furniture. A one-to-one replacement is not called for from proposers.
	

	17
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Are there criteria for placing/replacing furniture?


	Appendix A provides draft furniture placement guidance, with examples of clusters in transit zones and kiosks out of transit zones.


	

	18
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Who owns street furniture in the right-of-way?


	There are a variety of owners, including both private and public agencies.


	

	19
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Are parking pay stations City owned and operated?
	Yes.
	

	20
	2/25/2015
	3/9/2015
	Who owns the bus zone ITS kiosks?
	The City owns the ITS kiosks, but manages and maintains them in close coordination and oversight by King County Metro.
	

	21
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What is the expectation for number of shelters at transit zones?


	Shelter needs are site specific.
	

	22
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	In the Proposal Response document, under assumptions for financial projects, will each zone include one of each element listed such as transit shelter, or more based on conditions?


	Assume one unit of each element listed for each block face with the listed number of panels per element. For example, Transit Zone with Curbside Shelter would have 60 shelters with 2 panels each for a total of 120 single-face panels, etc.
	

	23
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	For advertising are there restrictions on type or content?
	There is no policy for off-premise ads because they are not currently allowed by Seattle Municipal Code. King County Metro’s advertising policy is cited in the RFP as a good example of advertising guidelines. If off-premise advertising is allowed, the City will develop an advertising policy.


	

	24
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Appendix A includes descriptions of creative/artistic installation. What is envisioned for these elements? 


	The City wanted the RFP to provide vendors with the opportunity to include creative and artistic elements in the program. This can take many forms and is at the discretion of the proposer.


	

	25
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	In appendix A, C. and D. show awnings on buildings – will vendor be expected to address, provide building awnings?


	Vendors will not be expected to provide canopies or shelters attached to private property – illustration is intended to show conditions.


	

	26
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Who is responsible for the landscape zone in appendix A, such as street trees?


	The City is responsible for this zone.
	

	27
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	In Appendix A, for the 840 block faces without ads is there a definition of basic amenities?
	For financial assumptions assume only maintenance costs and revenues for the elements listed on page 4, including 25 columnar kiosks and 100 wayfinding signs which do not have a specified location. 
	

	28
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Could the program area be expanded?
	The program area will not be expanded for this RFP or contract.
	

	29
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Are block dimensions such as sidewalk width available?
	Seattle GIS can provide the data available. This data is managed by Seattle Public Utilities.
	

	30
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What type of financial auditing mechanisms would vendors be subjected to?
	The RFP details expectations for financial reporting.
	

	31
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Does the City have a preference for off-the-shelf furniture products?
	The City will evaluate the proposals it receives without preference for off-the-shelf products.
	

	32
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Does the City have any buy regionally, buy local, or buy American preferences?


	This RFP and City contracting have no such preferences.
	

	33
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	How accurate is the map showing excluded zones?
	The map is intended to depict the exclusion of Parks property, the Metro Tract (and other private property), Pike Place Market Historical District, Pioneer Square Historic District, International Special Review District, and in accordance with the Shoreline Code areas within 200’ of Elliott Bay. The anticipated north, south, east and west boundaries are stated in the RFP on page 3.
	

	34
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Would removal of existing furniture be the vendor’s responsibility? Will the vendor have the authority to remove existing street furniture? Is the vendor responsible for purchasing existing street furniture from the owner?
	The answer to these questions can be found on page 8 of the RFP: “To remove existing and install new street furnishings, the successful Vendor will be required to comply with City of Seattle standard specifications, permitting processes, and approval requirements from the Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT) and public and private owners of existing street furniture. SDOT staff will work with the successful Vendor to design a specialized permitting and approval process. The successful Vendor will be required to provide installation plans that address traffic and pedestrian impacts as well as any noise impacts and will be required to abide by the holiday construction moratorium for the Downtown Retail Core and Pioneer Square (Thanksgiving Day to January 1; per SDOT Client Assistance Memo #2107).” The vendor will not be expected to purchase existing furniture from an owner.
	

	35
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Assuming 2-3 years for installation, revenue collection on a 10-year term would be 6-7 years. This term limits revenue, which in turn limits investment, creating trade-offs in quality of product and/or maintenance standards. Is the City willing to expand the term of the contract?
	The City reserves the right to consider a variation in term through negotiation of the final contract, but will not extend the total contract term, including extensions, beyond 20 years.
	

	36
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What methods, process, criteria will be used to determine if the vendor is meeting City expectations? Will there be penalties if expectations are not met?


	The RFP includes minimum standards for maintenance expectations, including reimbursement to the City for work required by contract, but in the opinion of the City not performed in a timely manner. Potential vendors will be evaluated and selected based on their proposals. Final contract negotiation will determine accountability mechanisms for oversight of the program. In addition, all new street furniture will continue to be permitted by SDOT and managed using the City’s existing oversight authority. 


	

	37
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Would the City consider extending the proposal submittal deadline – given the short time between closure of questions, answers posted and proposal due date?


	The City will determine if an extension is warranted based on the questions received by the March 4 Deadline for Questions. An extension may be granted at that time if the City deems the addendums significant enough to require additional proposal preparation. 


	

	38
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What are the City’s expectations of the vendor regarding outreach and stakeholder communications?


	The RFP states “The successful vendor will demonstrate that their team includes the expertise to work collaboratively with the City of Seattle, as well as other design stakeholders, to develop a furniture design for review by the Seattle Design Commission and final approval by the Mayor and City Council.

The mandatory Proposal Response includes a section on Approach to Program Development. This section may provide information to be evaluated about the vendor’s proposed approach to outreach and stakeholder communications both prior to the start of installation – which is required within 12 months of the effective date of any proposed sign code amendments – and throughout the contract duration. Outreach activities prior to sign code amendments should be executed in cooperation with City staff. 
	

	39
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	What kind of information about subcontracted team members needs to be provided by the proposer?


	Beyond information specifically called for in the RFP, descriptions of the team are at the discretion of the proposer.
	

	40
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	For existing street furniture not impacted by the program, what is the long-term management plan?


	Management of existing street furniture varies and is at the discretion of the owner.
	

	41
	2/25/2015
	3/4/2015
	Can the prime contractor add vendors at any time in the process?
	Proposers may develop a team at their discretion. All subcontractors and suppliers will be approved by the City and included in the final contract.
	

	42
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	Due to the complexity of this RFP, and the financial requirements involved, would you consider an extension to the proposal due date?  We would like to request 8 weeks.


	The City will determine if an extension is warranted based on the questions received by the March 4 Deadline for Questions. An extension may be granted at that time if the City deems the addendums significant enough to require additional proposal preparation. 


	

	43
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	To clarify, the vendor for the program will not have any responsibility to purchase, install and/or maintain the “basic amenities” on the 840 Block faces with no advertising component.


	For the purposes of “Assumptions for Financial Projections” found in the Proposal Response attachment, pages 3-4, the proposer does not need to make any assumptions for costs or revenue of the 840 blocks that “will have basic amenities with no advertising.” 
For financial assumptions assume only maintenance costs and revenues for the elements listed on page 4, including 25 columnar kiosks and 100 wayfinding signs which do not have a specified location.

Proposals may include descriptions of program elements for evaluation envisioned outside of those detailed for financial assumptions in response to other elements of the RFP.
	

	44
	2/26/2015
	3/9/2015
	Is the LOC for the amount of the Annual Guarantee?  If different, how is the value of the contract price determined.


	The City revises the Contract Bond section on page 13 such that the successful Vendor must have capacity to furnish a Contract Bond (performance and payment) or a Letter of Credit, as approved by the City, in an amount equal five million dollars ($5,000,000).
	Contract Bond

The successful Vendor must have capacity to furnish a Contract Bond (performance and payment) or a Letter of Credit, as approved by the City, in an amount equal to $5,000,000 plus sales or use tax. The forms required for both the Contract Bond and the Letter of Credit are provided below, with instructions and signature requirements. The firms that supply the Contract Bond and the Letter of Credit must be from an approved list. 
· The Vendor shall provide a Contract Bond, executed by a company included in the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Listing of Approved Sureties (Circular 570) and included on the Washington State Insurance Commissioner’s Authorized Insurance Company List with a rating of A-(VII) or better in the A.M. Best’s Key Rating Guide (available online at http://www.fms.treas.gov/c570/c570.html). 

· Alternatively, the Vendor may provide a Letter of Credit, executed by a Banking Institution with a Moody’s Bank Rating of B or better.

· The Bond or Letter of Credit is required at the time the contract is signed and returned to the City. The City does not intend to execute the contract until the proper and approved form of the Bond or Letter of Credit has been accepted by the City.

Letter of commitment 

The Letter of Commitment is a letter that confirms the intention of an appropriate surety to provide a Contract Bond should the company receive an award. This letter does not supply the Bond, but expresses that the surety can provide a qualified Bond should an award be given.
· This Letter of Commitment may be for a Contract Bond. The letter shall be from a qualified bond agency as specified above and shall confirm the willingness of the agency to provide a Contract Bond of $5,000,000 that meets the form and requirements of the City Bond Form, should the Vendor win the award.

· Alternatively, the City will accept a Letter of Commitment for a Letter of Credit. The Letter of Commitment shall be from a qualified Banking Institution as specified above, and confirm the willingness of the Banking Institution to provide a Letter of Credit in the amount of $5,000,000, should the Vendor win the award.

Optional coverage amounts

The City may request Vendors to provide pricing options for the Contract Bond or Letter of Credit coverage. The City reserves the option to execute a bond for the pricing option selected by the City prior to execution of the contract. The Letter of Commitment shall be for $5,000,000; however the City would reserve the right to execute a contract selecting a value less than $5,000,000.



	45
	2/26/15
	3/4/2015
	Once the street amenities are collaboratively identified, can the Vendor prioritize or influence the prioritization of the installation?  The RFP indicates no; but with many elements not offering advertising, it can put a Vendor at a disadvantage to incur costs for manufacturing, relocation and installation and potentially not receive advertising revenue until the end of three years. 
	RFP page 11: “Specific phasing of new installations will be negotiated in the final contract but are expected to reflect priority locations.”
	

	46
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	The City requests the right to reprogram digital displays for emergency notices.  Is it sufficient that the vendor commit to post on behalf of the City?


	Logistics regarding the digital display of emergency notices are contingent on design details not available at this time, and will need to be negotiated during final contract negotiations.
	

	47
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	Would the vendor receive the revenue from the rental of the newspaper boxes by the newspaper companies?


	At this time the City does not issue permits for or collect revenues associated with newspaper boxes, and at this time has no plans to do so. Vendors will be free to negotiate independent, collaborative agreements with publishers regarding newspaper box placement and revenue.
	

	48
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	Due to the time and cost associated with conducting a Driver Distraction Study as requested, would you consider having this study be done by the winning vendor once a plan is agreed upon between the City and vendor?


	Proposers should be responsive to RFP requests for information regarding driver distraction, such as those outlined in the mandatory Proposal Response on page 2 Driver Distraction Analysis. Proposers will be evaluated based on response content. The City reserves the right to work with the selected vendor to conduct additional study of driver distraction.
	

	49
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	Would the City accept a non-conforming bid?


	No.
	

	50
	2/26/2015
	3/4/2015
	Would the City accept a partial bid?


	If the proposal is responsive and responsible, the City will review the proposal and score it accordingly. The City desires to execute a single contract for these services.
	

	51
	3/2/2015
	3/4/2015
	Will you please add these questions and this requirement to RFPCTY3214:

VENDOR QUESTIONS:
· Past markets no longer served?

· Vendor’s lawsuits in other locations?

· Bankruptcies?

· Major sale of outdoor properties (i.e. currently Clear Channel’s London street furnishings inventory, Outfront’s total business? Etc.)?

· Names and joint venture names of contracts both domestic and international, to fully evaluate each firm’s ability to perform under contract with or without partner firms?

REQUIREMENT:
· If not selected as the final vendor, the vendor must promise not sue the City of Seattle. 


	The current RFP provides significant requirements from proposers regarding past experience, financial stability, and documentation of team members.

During the interview phase of the selection process the City reserves the right to ask additional questions in line with those suggested here.

The City currently does not have plans to add the suggested requirement.
	

	52
	3/2/2015
	3/4/2015
	As you know, responses to the RFP are currently due March 20, 2015 and questions regarding the RFP are due by March 4, 2015.  Given the breadth and complexity of the responses requested and the shortness of time to react to the City’s responses to questions raised through this process or at the proposal conference last week, would the City extend the deadline for responses from March 20 to a date six to eight weeks after the City’s responses to submitted questions are provided?  
	The City will determine if an extension is warranted based on the questions received by the March 4 Deadline for Questions. An extension may be granted at that time if the City deems the addendums significant enough to require additional proposal preparation. 


	

	52
	3/2/2015
	3/4/2015
	Ask that the RFPCTY3214 creates more clarity upfront by specifically listing the City’s intended advertising prohibitions. Vague reference to guidance provided by KC Metro’s policy is not adequate and is dated, as their last policy review was in 2012. Given the introduction of marijuana into the State of Washington, a more thoughtful call-out is being questioned and requested.
	Currently there are no advertising content rules for advertising in the right-of-way because the Seattle sign code prohibits such advertising. Per page 5 of the RFP “All advertising content will be required to adhere to the City of Seattle’s advertising content rules, which would be developed following the adoption of amendments to the Seattle Municipal Code and would likely be similar to the policies of King County Metro Transit”.


	

	53
	3/2/2015
	3/4/2015
	We ask that advertising prohibitions in developing this PPP in Seattle’s PUBLIC ROW be sure to include: Alcohol; Tobacco; Firearms; Adult/Mature rated films, TV or Video Games; Adult Entertainment facilities; other Adult Services; Sexual and/or Excretory Subject Matter; False or Misleading; Copyright/Trademark/Otherwise Unlawful infringements; Illegal Activity; Demeaning or Disparging; Harmful or Disruptive to Transit System; Lights, Noise and Special Effects; Unsafe Transit Behavior. And clear policy on Limited Public Forum Status (including political messaging) and ad ‘attribution' guidelines. 

We would like to ask that prohibitions on marijuana and political campaign ads are added.
	These requests will be considered during the development of City of Seattle advertising content rules.
	

	54
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Because this is a contract where a significant amount of capital will be deployed, would you consider a 15 year contract with a 5 year option or even a 20 year contract?  Philadelphia recently just awarded a 20 year Street Furniture contract, FYI.
	The City reserves the right to consider a variation in term through negotiation of the final contract, but will not extend the total contract term, including extensions, beyond 20 years. 
	

	55
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	You indicate that installation of all the new furniture would be completed within the first 3 years of the program.  Not understanding the process of approvals in the City, would you consider increasing the build out period to 4 or 5 years?
	The City reserves the right to negotiate the build out period with the successful proposer.
	

	56
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Regarding exercise of the option, is it possible for the option to be automatic if the vendor is in compliance with all contract terms to that point?
	Contract extensions will not be automatic. As stated on page 11 of the RFP “The successful Vendor will submit a program evaluation—of a format to be determined by the City—in year nine of the contract to facilitate review of the Vendor’s performance prior to contract extension.” The City reserves the right to determine the form and details of the program evaluation at the outset of program implementation by the vendor.
	

	57
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	The contract bond as stated is not consistent with what is market.  100% of the contract value is not realistic for many companies and Seattle wants to create competition in this RFP .  Recently the City of Philadelphia awarded a 20 year contract with a $5 million bid bond.
	The City revises the Contract Bond section on page 13 such that “The successful Vendor must have capacity to furnish a Contract Bond (performance and payment) or a Letter of Credit, as approved by the City, in an amount equal five million dollars ($5,000,000).”
	

	58
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Regarding Letter of Commitment, it will be difficult to give a firm Letter of Commitment before any new contract is negotiated.  The City should be aware of this as it would be unreasonable to expect a company to commit to something it did not know the details of.
	As stated on page 21 a letter from a Qualified Surety to Commit a Bond or Letter of Credit is mandatory proposal submittal. Failure to provide this submittal may result in rejection as non-responsive. The City revised the Contract Bond amount required to five million dollars ($5,000,000,000).
	

	59
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Can you explain the ethics code relating to contract workers with more than 1,000 hours?
	If a vendor worker on a City contract performs 1,000 hours of work in any 12-month period they must abide by the City Ethics Code. Details about the Ethics Code can be found here:  http://www.seattle.gov/ethics/etpub/et_home.htm. Page 20 of the RFP includes a pamphlet on the Ethics Code and a contact number for the Elections and Ethics Commission where staff can answer additional questions. 
	

	60
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Regarding the quantity of the Street Furniture elements in the inventory area, you have identified 2,703 Street Furniture elements that the contractor is required to build out under this agreement and yet it appears you are only authorizing the build out of 96 bus and transit shelters.  There is not sufficient revenue that can be generated from only 96 shelters to build all these other elements.  Again, recently the City of Philadelphia authorized 500 new shelters and their other elements  numbered far less than what is listed in this RFP.  
	If a successful proposer is selected final contract negotiations will determine the details of the quantity, type and location of street furniture elements. For the purposes of financial evaluation bidders are asked to use assumptions listed in an attachment on page 22 as part of the mandatory Proposal Response submittal. Page 3-4 of the attachment detail Assumptions for Financial Projections, specifically those listed on page 4 which list the number of block faces, furniture elements and ad panels to be assumed, including an additional 25 Columnar kiosks with one ad panel and 100 wayfinding signs with one ad panel which may be flexibly located in the program area. For example page 4 lists 60 transit zone block faces requiring elements a-e for a total of 4 ad panels to be assumed on each block, for a total of 240 ad panels total at transit zone block faces.  
	

	61
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	In regards to Section 4, Page 6 under licensing and business tax requirements, it indicates that all permits required to perform the work are to be supplied by the Vendor at no additional cost to the city. Does this include permits that the vendor will get from the city themselves to create the new street furniture inventory/plant for the city?  i.e., Electrical, construction, and advertising permit. And if so what is the cost of such permits?  What would cause relocations to happen and would the City agree not be capricious here?
	The Vendor will be responsible for obtaining all necessary permits and permissions, including required City permits, for installation and maintenance of all elements of the program. The cost of those permits will be determined based on the final plan for coordinated street furniture and is dependent on location and the nature of street furniture elements used. The final plan for coordinated street furniture will also include removals as needed. The City reserves the right to call for relocations for purposes such as, but not limited to, evaluation of performance and capital projects in the right-of-way. 
	

	62
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	In regards to Section 5, Page 8 addressing the installation and removal requirements it indicates that should the City request any removals and or relocation of existing furniture that the expense to do so will be the sole responsibility of the Vendor. Does this include permits? And if so what is the cost of those permits?
	Vendor expenses for removals or relocation of existing furniture includes permits. The cost of the permits is dependent on the number and site specific nature of the permits. Information about SDOT street use permitting can be found here http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/stuse_permits.htm, but is not inclusive of all permitting that may be needed in the right-of-way. SDOT staff will work closely with the successful bidder to facilitate review and issuance of permits.
	

	63
	3/3/15
	3/9/15
	Section 5, Page 10 eighth bullet down; reimbursement for City labor should the City perform maintenance work in an emergency situation. What is the labor cost per hour that the City would charge?  Would the City call the contractor first before commencing the work?
	City labor costs vary depending on the nature of the work. The City and the vendor will establish protocols for performance of emergency work.


	

	64
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Considering the detailed nature of developing a thorough response to the RFP, we respectfully request at least a four week extension to the due date of proposals.
	The City will not grant an extension to the due date of proposals.


	

	65
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	With respect to Section 8 of the RFP, subsection 7 “Proposal Response”, Page 4. Are the elements listed under each Transit Zone mandatory for each block face or do they represent  maximum allowable amounts. For example: Transit Zone 1 (60 block faces), are 120 transit shelter panels, 60 Information Kiosks, 60 seating elements, 60 refuse collection units, and 60 newspaper boxes mandatory amounts, suggested amounts, or do they represent the maximum allowable units.
	The elements listed on page 4 of the “Proposal Response” are solely for the purpose of providing a common set of assumptions for bidders to develop financial projections. As such they represent mandatory element units in developing financial projections, but do not seek to represent expectations about the final, approved package for the coordinated street furniture program.
	

	66
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	As the Coordinated Street Furniture Program is considered a public/private partnership, will there be dedicated City of Seattle personnel assigned to this program in conjunction with the successful bidder to assist in the approval process in order to expedite the roll-out of this program?
	City of Seattle personnel will be/are assigned to this program and will work with the successful bidder in the approval process and implementation for the Coordinated Street Furniture Program.


	

	67
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Specifically which Departments within the City of Seattle Government offices will permits be required from to be secured?  What are the corresponding fees for required permits?  How much time is required from submittal for review and issuance of the permits?
	Which City of Seattle departments issue permits for this program and what their cost is will be dependent on the approved Coordinated Street Furniture program, and what elements at which locations are included. The Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT) will be a permitting agency for this program. SDOT staff will work closely with the successful bidder to facilitate review and issuance of permits.
	

	68
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Would the successful bidder be responsible for service, repair and maintenance of existing street furniture elements, which would include maintain an inventory of spare parts from to be determined suppliers and at an expense still to be determined?
	Currently the successful bidder would not be responsible in any way for existing street furniture that is not impacted by the program. However, the City reserves the right to negotiate maintenance and repair services for elements that are not part of the program. The successful bidder will be responsible for installation, service, repair and maintenance of those street furniture elements included in the program. The successful bidder would also be responsible for removal and restoration of existing street furniture determined to be removed as part of the program. 


	

	69
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Would it be correct to assume that the selected contractor would only be responsible for maintenance and repair of elements of street furniture installed by it and would not be responsible for the maintenance and repair of the currently existing elements of street furniture?
	Currently the successful bidder would not be responsible in any way for existing street furniture that is not impacted by the Coordinated Street Furniture program. Following installation and removals and restoration identified by the final plan for the program the selected vendor would only be responsible for elements of street furniture installed by it. However, the City reserves the right to negotiate maintenance and repair services for elements that are not part of the program. 
	

	70
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	How much do typical licenses and permits costs in regards to the street furniture build-out required by this RFP?
	The cost of the permits is dependent on the number and site specific nature of the permits. Information about SDOT Street Use permitting can be found here http://www.seattle.gov/transportation/stuse_permits.htm, but is not inclusive of all permitting that may be needed in the right-of-way. SDOT staff will work closely with the successful bidder to facilitate review and issuance of permits.


	

	71
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	The RFP states that some street furniture is “privately owned”.  Approximately how much of the existing inventory is privately owned?
	Most of the existing street furniture is privately owned. King County Metro owns and maintains most street furniture at transit zones, such as shelters and benches.
	

	72
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Page 10 – Section 5 – For the avoid of doubt, will the vendor have the ability to recoup capital expenditures directly from the first revenues generated towards the revenue-share?
	Details of revenue sharing will be determined through final negotiations with the selected vendor. The City’s interest is in securing and maximizing revenues to support further streetscape enhancements, center city transportation objectives, safety upgrades, or other needs. The RFP states on page 7 that the vendor “will also provide the City with a portion of annual revenue generated.” Bidders’ proposals will be evaluated based on included information about Compensation Package / Financial Responsibility and Capacity.


	

	73
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	The second to last and last bullets on page 4 under the additional program requirement and parameters indicate that there will be certain restrictions on the number of displays per area and also restrictions on the size and scope of advertising displays. Could you please provide additional detail on these restrictions?
	Advertising displays allowed, restricted and the guidelines governing them would be a function of any amendments to the Seattle Municipal Code to allow off-premises advertising. Currently no off-premises advertising is allowed.


	

	74
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Page 8 Installation and Removal Requirements – This section states that “proposals should assume that power would be obtained from an independent source or purchased directly from Seattle City Light (via direct Vendor arrangement) and/or should account for construction of new electrical connections in collaboration with adjacent property owners”. Considering that the final approval of the placement of street furniture is given by the City of Seattle, will costs incurred by the Vendor related to power be reimbursed?
	No costs incurred by the Vendor related to power will be reimbursed. The Vender will be responsible for all costs, of all types related the program. 


	

	75
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Page 8-9 Advertising – Considering that the final number, size and locations of the proposed advertising panels and the determination of which furniture elements will contain advertising is contingent on the approval of the Seattle City Council and amendments to the Seattle Municipal Code, will the financial proposal be allowed to be adjusted to reflect the actual available advertising inventory?
	The City is aware that any changes to the Assumptions for Financial Projections will impact the proposers’ financial projections.


	

	76
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Page 11 states that a percentage of the total advertising space must be permanently available for public service or community announcements. Could you please provide the percentage?
	A specific percentage cannot be provided at this time. Specific provisions for public service and community announcements will be a function of design, sign code changes, community engagement and negotiation of a final coordinated street furniture plan.
	

	77
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Would the City of Seattle consider lowering the letter of credit/bond percentage from 100% to 25%-33% of the minimum annual guarantee to be in line with the current market for security for United States Transit Authorities?
	The City revises the Contract Bond section on page 13 such that “The successful Vendor must have capacity to furnish a Contract Bond (performance and payment) or a Letter of Credit, as approved by the City, in an amount equal five million dollars ($5,000,000).”
	

	78
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Compensation Package – Would the City be willing to accept a proposal that would pay the city the higher of a minimum annual guarantee or revenue-share as per industry standard?  The vendor would pay 1/12 of the calendar year minimum annual guarantee per month with an annual true-up at year end if revenue-share generated is greater than the total calendar year minimum guarantee.
	Bidders’ proposals will be evaluated based on included information about Compensation Package / Financial Responsibility and Capacity. Bidders are free to provide whatever details deemed valuable for such an evaluation. 
	

	79
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	The Start date:

The start date of the program is considered to be the date the City Council approval of the selected vendor.  Given the fact that the City Council will likely need time to amend the Municipal Code to allow off-premise advertising on selected street furniture, and that securing permits, designing, manufacturing and installing the street furniture will also take a significant amount of time, the effective duration of the contract could potentially be materially reduced, which would threaten the program’s economic viability.  

Question: Would the City consider amending its RFP to align the duration of the contract with the actual time that the street furniture, or an agreed upon percentage of street furniture is installed such that the selected vendor can start generating revenue?
	As stated on page 11 of the RFP “The contract will require the successful Vendor begin installation of program components within 12 months of the effective date for the code amendments, unless a faster schedule is required by the City and/or negotiated otherwise. Prior to completion of code changes, the Vendor may, at its own risk, choose to work with the City, the Seattle Design Commission, project stakeholders, and members of the public to identify the elements of the furniture program, design the street furniture, develop a prototype, and prepare for installation.” In final contract negotiations with the successful proposer the City reserves the right to consider a variation in the contract term which may facilitate coordination prior to installation of street furniture. The full term of the contract, including extensions, will not exceed 20 years.
	

	80
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Contract Term and Extension:

The RFP does not stipulate objective criteria that the City Council will consider for an extension.  Proposers can only base their proposal on actual duration known at the time of the selection.  Proposers can’t maximize the benefit of the program to the City both in service and revenue share with a short term contract.

Question: would be the City consider providing that the contract will automatically be extended unless the selected vendor is in breach of its material obligations under the Program?
	Contract extensions will not be automatic. As stated on page 11 of the RFP “The successful Vendor will submit a program evaluation—of a format to be determined by the City—in year nine of the contract to facilitate review of the Vendor’s performance prior to contract extension.” The City reserves the right to determine the form and details of the program evaluation at the outset of program implementation by the vendor.


	

	81
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Contract Bond:

Can you please provide us with a template or the wording, for the Letter of Commitment, you will require?  As to the value of the Commitment can you elaborate on the contract price calculation, for instance, should it be based on annual or full term revenue to the City and expenses?
	The City does not use a standard form or template. Banking institutions are familiar with the Letter of Commitment and will have their own forms. Regarding the value of the Commitment the City revises the Contract Bond section on page 13 such that “The successful Vendor must have capacity to furnish a Contract Bond (performance and payment) or a Letter of Credit, as approved by the City, in an amount equal five million dollars ($5,000,000).”


	

	82
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Size of panels:

The size of a Transit shelter panel, Multifunctional Kiosks panel and the standard Wayfinding signs panel have a common unique standard size of 4’ x6’.

Question: would the City consider amending its RFP to provide a unique standard size of 4’ x6’ for these three elements of street furniture panel?

The standard panel size of a Columnar kiosk is about 4.5’ x 11.5’.

Question: would the City allow that standard size instead of the format provided in the RFP document?
	At this point in the RFP process the City will not change the assumed ad panel sizes provided in the Proposal Response attachment on page 22 of the RFP. 


	

	83
	3/4/15
	3/9/15
	Effective Dates of Offer:

Economic conditions tend to evolve over time, and the assumptions made at the time of submittal of a proposal might no longer be relevant after a year or more.  While this is a risk that proposers assume when entering into a contract, an unlimited validity for the proposal itself is both unusual and not sound from a business perspective.

Question: would the City consider capping the validity of the proposals to one year after their submittal?
	The RFP states on page 18 that “Offer value in the proposer’s submittal must remain valid until the City completes award. The current RFP schedule for Contract Award Date is July 1, 2015. The City does not anticipate contract award to occur beyond one year of the submittal due date March 20, 2015.
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